
 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

MILWAUKEE DIVISION 

ANDREW L. COLBORN, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

NETFLIX, INC.; CHROME MEDIA 
LLC, F/K/A SYNTHESIS FILMS, LLC; 
LAURA RICCIARDI; AND MOIRA 
DEMOS, 

Defendants. 

Civil No.: 19-CV-484-BHL 

THIRD DECLARATION OF LEITA WALKER 
 

I, Mary Andreleita (“Leita”) Walker, under penalty of perjury and subject to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1746, declare as follows: 

1. I am a partner at Ballard Spahr LLP in Minneapolis, Minnesota, and lead counsel for 

Defendant Netflix, Inc., in the above-referenced matter. I have personal knowledge of the 

matters set forth herein, and I make this declaration in support of Netflix’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment. 

2. Contrary to Plaintiff Andrew Colborn’s assertion that “Defendants produced a total of 

5 emails” post-dating December 18, 2015, Netflix produced in discovery approximately 280 

emails and attachments dated on or after December 18, 2015. See, e.g., NFXCOL0000441-

0002359. 
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3. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a true and correct copy of an email thread between 

Laura Ricciardi, Moira Demos, and executives from Netflix, produced by the Producer 

Defendants in this matter at Bates No. CHRM000006. 

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the transcript of 

the deposition of Adam Del Deo in this matter. 

5. Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the transcript of 

the deposition of Lisa Nishimura in this matter. 

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the transcript of 

the deposition of Andrew Colborn in this matter. 

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of Plaintiff’s Responses to 

Defendant Chrome Media LLC’s First Set of Interrogatories, dated January 28, 2022. 

8. Attached hereto as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the published 

book Indefensible, by Michael Griesbach. 

9. Attached hereto as Exhibit 7 a true and correct copy of portions of the transcript of 

testimony on February 19, 2007, Day 6 of the trial in State v. Avery, No. 05 CF 381 in the Circuit 

Court for Manitowoc County, produced by the Producer Defendants in this matter at Bates No. 

CHRM009267. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Dated: December 9, 2022    /s/Leita Walker  
       Leita Walker 
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Message 

From: Laura Ricciardi [lauraricciardi@synthesisfilms.com] 
Sent: 4/16/2013 10:53:45 PM 
To: Moira Demos [moirademos@synthesisfilms.com] 
Subject: Re: Fwd: Making a Murderer clips and materials 

You read my mind. 

Netflix hasn't seen the screeners, correct? 

On Tue, 16 Apr 2013 15:48:50 -0700, Moira Demos <moirademos@synthesisfilms.com> wrote: 

Hon, 
I kept Maureen in the loop. 

Sent from my iPhone 

Begin forwarded message: 

From: Maureen Ryan <hopl984@earthlink.net>
Date: April 16, 2013 3:44:44 PM PDT 
To: Moira Demos <moirademos@svnthesisfilms.com>
Subject: Re: Making a Murderer clips and materials 

Wonderful. Keep me posted. 

MAR 
On Apr 16, 2013, at 6:40 PM, Moira Demos wrote: 

Another promising step with Netflix... 

Sent from my iPhone 

Begin forwarded message: 

From: Peter Friedlander <pfriedlander@netflix.com>
Date: April 16, 2013 2:56:39 PM PDT 
To: Eleonore Dailly <edailly@gmail.com>
Cc: Moira Demos <moirademos@svnthesisfilms.com>, Laura Ricciardi <lauraricciardi@svnthesisfilms.com>,
Lisa Nishimura <lnishimura@netflix.com>, Alyse Gleason <agleason@netflix.com>, Danielle Johansen 
<djohansen cr,netflix.com> 
Subject: Re: Making a Murderer clips and materials 

I iello Eleonore, Moira, and Laura, 
As per my earlier email, our interests were piqued by the compelling episodes you sent over. 
We'd love to discuss what we've already watched and also the future episodes. If you are able to come by 
Netflix, it would be great to meet you in person. 
I've copied some of our team members into this chain, so they can reach out and schedule a meeting. 
Look forward to meeting you. 

Confidential CHRM000006 
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On Wed, Mar 27, 2013 at 8:20 AM, Eleonore Dailly <edaillv(idgnail.com> wrote: 

Hello Peter: 
Please find attached a rough cut of Episodes I and 2 and a sketch of Episode 3 to give you a better idea of the 
series. The other episodes are also sketched out but we did not want to flood you with too much material. Two 
award-winning editors are itching to jump on board and further shape the series: 
- Mona Davis (Running from Crazy) http:ffwww.imdb.comfname!nm0205200/?ref =fn al nm 1 
- David Zieff (Metallica) htt ://ww,v.imdb.com/name/nmO956051!?ref =fn ai nm 1 
I thought I'd also attach a written outline of all 8 episodes of the series so you would be able to get an overall sense of 
the project in its non-fiction form. 
Looking forward to your thoughts, 
Eleonore, Laura and Moira 

no-reply Iy meo.com 

l 

Synthesis Films shared this with you: 

jfI2wir*x.I.ii.tTflf • 

Making a Murderer - Episode rough 
cuts 
http:/Ivmeo.com/aIhumi2291i 16 

the revised pilot is up and added to the 
album. I think the link should be the 
same, but just in case... 

Password: 
Redacted B 

About this album 
"Making a Murderer - an 8-part docuseries 
produced by Synthesis Films. This album 
contains rough cuts for the pilot episode (epl&2) 

Confidential CHRM000007 
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and episode 3. For more information please 
contact Eleonore Dailly - edaillyt gmail.com" 

On Fri, Mar 22, 2013 at 6:57 PM, Peter Friedlander <pfriedlander ,)netflix.com> wrote: 

Thank you. 
Have a great weekend. 
Peter 

.......................................... .......................................... .......................................... .......................................... .......................................... .......................................... .......................................... .......................................... ............ 
From: Eleonore Dailly <edailly@gmail.com>
Date: Fri, 22 Mar 2013 01:04:24 -0700 

To: Netflix <pfriedlander@netflix.com>
Cc: Moira Demos <moirademos@synthesisfilms.com>, Laura Ricciardi <Iauraricciardi@synthesisfilms.com>
Subject: Re: Making a Murderer clips and materials 

Peter: 
We're so glad to hear you were intrigued by the clips. We'll upload a couple of episodes to the same platform in the next 
few days and send you a link to view them. We look forward to continuing the conversation. 
Best, 
Eleonore 

On Thu, Mar 21, 2013 at 1:04 PM, Peter Friedlander <pfriedlander@netflix.com> wrote: 

Hello all, 
Apologies in the delay in following up with you. 
These clips were intriguing to us — the characters, the unbelievable circumstances.., and we'd love to see a couple 
episodes if you were comfortable showing them to us. 
Please let us know if that is a possibility. 
Thanks, 

From: Eleonore Dailly <edailly@gmail.com>
Date: Wed, 6 Mar 2013 18:13:16 -0800 
To: Netflix <pfriedlander@netflix.com>
Cc: Moira Demos <moirademos@synthesisfilms.com>, Laura Ricciardi <Iauraricciardi@synthesisfilms.com>
Subject: Making a Murderer clips and materials 

Peter: 

It was a pleasure talking to you both this morning. 

Confidential CHRM000008 
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Please find below a link to clips that will give you a glimpse of the richness of the world and characters we are exploring in 
Making a murderer. 

I'm also including a brief presentation of the series. We'd be happy to provide you with a full treatment of the 8 part 
series as well as any additional footage you may want to see. 

We will be working with the award-winning editor Mona Davis and are in talks with David Zief to complete 
postproduction on the series. 

We look forward to your thoughts and continuing the discussion. 

Best, 

Eleonore Dailly I Producer 
p. 310-430-2943 1 edailly _amail.com 
Chair and Board Member 
Alliance of Women Directors 

r=::€  no-reply(-vimeo.com : . 

Synthesis Films shared this with you: 

Confidential CHRM000009 
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Making a Murderer 
tttp iv:rrae r, or?t/aik;:arrai2287O7 9 

Password: 
1Rddacted! .._._._._._._.. 
About this album 
"Making a Murderer Is an 8-part docuseries In post-
production. For more information contact Eleonore 
Dailly - edailly Ca~gmail.com" 

Synthesis Films LLC 
www.synthesisfilms.com 
lauraricciardi@synthesisfilms.com 
(917) 749-7030 

Confidential CHRM000010 
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CONFIDENTIAL

1                UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

2               EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

3

4  ANDREW L. COLBORN,                    )

5                    Plaintiff,          ) Case No.

6  vs.                                   ) 19-cv-0484

7  NETFLIX, INC., et al.,                )

8                    Defendants.         )

9

10

11

12                        CONFIDENTIAL

13           VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF ADAM DEL DEO

14                       April 26, 2022

15

16

17

18

19

20  REPORTED REMOTELY BY:

21  AMBER S. WILLIAMS, C.S.R. No. 1080

22  Notary public

23

24

25
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CONFIDENTIAL

1           THE VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF Adam Del Deo

2  was taken on behalf of the defendants via

3  videoconference, commencing at 10:57 a.m. on

4  April 26, 2022, before Amber S. Williams via

5  videoconference, Certified Shorthand Reporter and

6  Notary Public within and for the State of Idaho, in

7  the above-entitled matter.

8

9                        APPEARANCES:

10  For Plaintiff via videoconference:

11       SCHOTT, BUBLITZ & ENGEL, S.C.

12       BY:  APRIL BARKER

13       640 West Moreland Boulevard

14       Waukesha, Wisconsin  53188-2422

15       abarker@sbe-law.com

16       -AND-

17       GRIESBACH LAW OFFICES, LLC

18       BY:  MICHAEL GRIESBACH

19       830 North 12th Street

20       Manitowac, Wisconsin  54220

21       attymgriesbach@gmail.com

22

23

24

25
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CONFIDENTIAL

1  For Defendant Netflix:

2       BALLARD SPAHR

3       BY:  LEITA WALKER

4       BY:  MATHEW E. KELLEY

5       2000 IDS Center

6       80 South 8th Street

7       Minneapolis, Minnesota  55402-2119

8       walkerl@ballardspahr.com

9       kelleym@ballardspahr.com

10       -AND-

11       IN-HOUSE COUNSEL FOR NETFLIX

12       BY:  MINDY LEMOINE

13       5805 West Sunset Boulevard

14       Los Angeles, California  90028-6607

15       mindse@yahoo.com

16  For defendants Chrome Media, Laura Ricciardi, and

17  Moira Demos via videoconference:

18       JASSY VICK CAROLAN, LLP

19       BY:  KEVIN VICK

20       BY:  MEGHAN FENZEL

21       355 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2450

22       Los Angeles, California 90071

23       kvick@jassyvick.com

24       mfenzel@jassyvick.com

25
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CONFIDENTIAL

1  Also Present:

2       Moira Demos, via videoconference

3       Laura Ricciardi, via videoconference

4       Deborah Bursik, via videoconference

5       Mehran Khatchadorian, videographer

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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CONFIDENTIAL

1          Q.   And you said "help support those films

2  and series," I believe, correct?

3          A.   Correct.

4          Q.   And what kind of support was provided to

5  the films and series in your capacity as director of

6  content?

7          A.   I'm going to say -- I would say a wide

8  range of support but trying to provide the resources

9  to them, and opinions, counsel, to help them see

10  their visions through.

11          Q.   Did you typically screen different

12  versions of documentaries in that capacity?

13          MS. WALKER:  Objection.  Vague.

14               You can answer if you understand the

15  question.

16          THE WITNESS:  Yes.

17          Q.   (BY MS. BARKER):  Okay.  With respect to

18  documentary support that you were providing, was that

19  provided in the form of written notes and

20  communications?

21          A.   It depended on the project, but at

22  times, yes.

23          Q.   So is there -- or, strike that.

24               Was there any kind of standard as far as

25  how many showings, or screenings, you needed to see
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CONFIDENTIAL

1  with respect to a documentary that was in development

2  or was that a case-by-case basis?

3          A.   It was case by case.  But I would say

4  if -- there wasn't a standard, but I would say,

5  generally speaking, it would be between three and

6  four cuts.

7          Q.   Thank you.  And I may have misused a

8  term there.  Is -- "development" is not the right

9  word.  Is "production" the right word?

10          MS. BARKER:  Objection to form.  Vague.

11               But you can answer if you understand.

12          THE WITNESS:  Maybe just re-ask the question.

13  I don't remember.

14          Q.   (BY MS. BARKER):  Sure.  I'll strike

15  that.

16               Is "development" or "production" the

17  right word for your work on preparing a documentary

18  series?

19          A.   It's both.  So the development phase

20  would be that there's an idea that a filmmaker would

21  bring to us and we're not certain yet it would be

22  something that we would move forward with.  So,

23  there's a period of trying to put the project

24  together to give us more clarity as to what we think

25  it would end up being, and -- so it's a phase to give
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CONFIDENTIAL

1                     UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

2                    EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

3

4

5      ANDREW L. COLBORN,         )

                                )

6                 Plaintiff,      )

                                )

7          vs.                    )     Case No.: 19-CV-0484

                                )

8      NETFLIX, INC., et al.,     )

                                )

9                 Defendants.     )

     ___________________________)

10

11

12                        C O N F I D E N T I A L

13

14             VIDEO-RECORDED DEPOSITION OF LISA NISHIMURA

15                       Los Angeles, California

16                        Friday, April 29, 2022

17

18

19

20

21

22

23      REPORTED REMOTELY BY:

24

25      NATALIE ALCOTT-BERNAL, CSR No. 13105
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CONFIDENTIAL

1                UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

2               EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

3

4

5 ANDREW L. COLBORN,         )

                           )

6            Plaintiff,      )

                           )

7     vs.                    )     Case No.: 19-CV-0484

                           )

8 NETFLIX, INC., et al.,     )

                           )

9            Defendants.     )

___________________________)

10

11

12                  C O N F I D E N T I A L

13

14

15          Video-recorded deposition of LISA NISHIMURA,

16 taken on behalf of Plaintiff via videoconference, at

17 Netflix, Inc., 5808 Sunset Boulevard, Los Angeles,

18 California, beginning at 9:18 a.m. and ending at 5:41

19 p.m., on Friday, April 29, 2022, before Natalie

20 Alcott-Bernal, via videoconference, Certified Shorthand

21 Reporter No. 13105, within the State of California.

22

23

24

25
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CONFIDENTIAL

1 APPEARANCES:
2

For Plaintiff: (Via videoconference)
3

       SCHOTT, BUBLITZ & ENGEL, S.C.
4        BY:  APRIL BARKER, Esq.

       640 West Moreland Boulevard
5        Waukesha, Wisconsin 53188

       abarker@sbe-law.com
6

           -and-
7

       GRIESBACH LAW OFFICES, LLC
8        BY:  MICHAEL GRIESBACH, Esq.

       830 North 12th Street
9        Manitowoc, Wisconsin 54220

       attmgriesbach@gmail.com
10

For Defendant, Netflix:
11

       BALLARD SPAHR, LLP
12        BY:  LEITA WALKER, Esq.

            EMMY PARSONS, Esq.
13        2000 IDS CENTER

       80 South 8th Street
14        Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402

       walkerl@ballardspahr.com
15        parsonse@ballardspahr.com
16             -and-
17        IN-HOUSE COUNSEL FOR NETFLIX

       BY:  MINDY LEMOINE, Esq.
18        5805 West Sunset Boulevard

       Los Angeles, California 90028
19        mlemoine@netflix.com
20 For Defendants, Chrome Media, Laura Ricciardi, and Moira

Demos: (Via videoconference)
21

       JASSY VICK CAROLAN, LLP
22        BY:  KEVIN L. VICK, Esq.

            MEGHAN FENZEL, Esq.
23        800 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 800

       Los Angeles, California 90017
24        kvick@jassyvick.com

       mfenzel@jassyvick.com
25

                      Continued...                      3
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CONFIDENTIAL

1 APPEARANCES: (Continued)

2        MEHRAN KHATCHADORIAN, Videographer

       Veritext Legal Solutions

3        (800) 660-3187

4        MOIRA DEMOS (via videoconference)

5        LAURA RICCIARDI (via videoconference)

6        DEBRA BURSIK, Paralegal (via videoconference)

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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CONFIDENTIAL

1 that.

2     A    Okay.  I'll read it now.

3          (Ms. Bursik rejoins the proceedings.)

4          THE WITNESS:  I'm just, FYI, hearing more

5 ringing on my side.

6          THE REPORTER:  Ms. Bursik was brought back into

7 the meeting.  She dropped out a few minutes ago.

8          MS. BARKER:  My apologies.  She's traveling and

9 trying to listen in.  So, my apologies if that happens

10 again.

11          THE WITNESS:  Understood.  Thanks.

12          I've read A through J.

13 BY MS. BARKER:

14     Q    Okay.  So, putting aside, for purposes of this

15 question, anything that lawyers have advised you.  And

16 I'm not asking you for a legal interpretation.  Are the

17 subjects described in Paragraphs A through J, in

18 practice, the kinds of things that you expected to have

19 approvals for with respect to the Making a Murderer

20 project?

21     A    Broadly speaking, yes, some of these items have

22 a little bit more to do with marketing and publicity and

23 those sorts of things, which are not my area of

24 expertise.  But, yes, inclusive in here are some of the

25 creative elements that I would be involved with.
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CONFIDENTIAL

1     Q    And that would include, particularly

2 subparagraph B, titled, "Storylines and Treatments";

3 correct -- or "Storylines," slash, "Treatments"; correct?

4     A    Correct.

5     Q    And then Subparagraph H referring to rough cuts,

6 fine cuts, and final cut; correct?

7     A    Correct.

8     Q    And then underneath those lettered paragraphs,

9 the next paragraph also refers to regular consulting

10 between Netflix and Synthesis with respect to the

11 progress of Season 1 of the Series.

12          Do you see that?

13     A    Can I just read the remainder of the page?

14     Q    Yes, please.  Thank you.

15     A    I'll do that now.

16          I've read it.

17     Q    Thank you.

18          Directing your attention, again, to the -- the

19 paragraph that's immediately following the lettered

20 paragraphs.  It refers to regular consultation with

21 respect to the progress of Season 1 of the Series.

22          Do you see that?

23     A    I do.

24     Q    And then it refers to a weekly status call or

25 such other frequency as mutually agreed to by the
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1

·1· · · · · · · · · UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
· · · · · · · ·FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN
·2· · ·-----------------------------------------------------
· · · ·ANDREW COLBORN,
·3
· · · · · · · · ·Plaintiff,
·4
· · · ·-vs-· · · · · · · · ·CIVIL ACTION NO. 19-CV-0484-BHL
·5
· · · ·NETFLIX, INC., ET AL.,· · · · · VOLUME I
·6
· · · · · · · · ·Defendants.
·7· · ·-----------------------------------------------------

·8· · · · · · · · · · VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF

·9· · · · · · · · · · · ·ANDREW L. COLBORN

10· · ·-----------------------------------------------------

11
· · · ·DATE:· · · · · · · July 21, 2022
12
· · · ·TIME:· · · · · · · 9:23 a.m. - 5:22 p.m.
13
· · · ·LOCATION:· · · · · Godfrey & Kahn, S.C.
14· · · · · · · · · · · · 833 East Michigan Street
· · · · · · · · · · · · · Suite 1800
15· · · · · · · · · · · · Milwaukee, Wisconsin· 53202

16

17

18

19

20

21
· · · ·REPORTED BY:
22· · ·Paula Huettenrauch, RMR, CRR
· · · ·365Reporting, LLC
23
· · · ·VIDEOGRAPHER:
24· · ·Jon Hansen, CLVS
· · · ·Video Concepts
25· · ·608.408.7411

Andrew Colborn vs.
Netflix, Inc., et al.

Andrew L. Colborn

920.585.2341· |· ·365Reporting, LLC· ·|· ·www.365reporting.net

Andrew Colborn vs.
Netflix, Inc., et al.

Andrew L. Colborn
July 21, 2022
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2

·1· · · · · · · · · · ·A P P E A R A N C E S

·2

·3· · ·LAW FIRM OF CONWAY, OLEJNICZAK & JERRY, S.C., BY
· · · ·R. GEORGE BURNETT, ATTORNEY AT LAW
·4· · ·231 South Adams Street
· · · ·Green Bay, Wisconsin· 54301
·5· · ·Gb@lcojlaw.com
· · · ·appeared on behalf of the Plaintiff.
·6

·7· · ·ROCKSTEAD LAW, LLC, BY
· · · ·APRIL ROCKSTEAD BARKER, ATTORNEY AT LAW
·8· · ·525 North Lincoln Avenue
· · · ·Beaver Dam, Wisconsin· 53916
·9· · ·aprilrbarker@rocksteadlaw.com
· · · ·appeared on behalf of the Plaintiff.
10

11· · ·BALLARD SPAHR LLP, BY
· · · ·LEITA WALKER, ATTORNEY AT LAW
12· · ·2000 IDS Center
· · · ·80 South 8th Street
13· · ·Minneapolis, Minnesota· 55402
· · · ·walkerl@ballardspahr.com
14· · ·appeared on behalf of Netflix, Inc.

15
· · · ·BALLARD SPAHR LLP, BY
16· · ·ISABELLA SALOMAO NASCIMENTO, ATTORNEY AT LAW
· · · ·2000 IDS Center
17· · ·80 South 8th Street
· · · ·Minneapolis, Minnesota· 55402
18· · ·salomaonascimentoi@ballardspahr.com
· · · ·appeared on behalf of Netflix, Inc.
19

20· · ·BALLARD SPAHR LLP, by
· · · ·EMMY S. PARSONS, ATTORNEY AT LAW
21· · ·1909 K Street NW, Suite 1200
· · · ·Washington, DC· 20006-1157
22· · ·parsonse@ballardspahr.com
· · · ·appeared via Zoom videoconference on
23· · ·behalf of Netflix, Inc.
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·1· · ·BALLARD SPAHR LLP, by
· · · ·MATTHEW E. KELLEY, ATTORNEY AT LAW
·2· · ·1909 K Street NW, Suite 1200
· · · ·Washington, DC· 20006-1157
·3· · ·kelleym@ballardspahr.com
· · · ·appeared via Zoom videoconference on
·4· · ·behalf of Netflix, Inc.

·5
· · · ·JASSY VICK CAROLAN LLP, by
·6· · ·KEVIN L. VICK, ATTORNEY AT LAW
· · · ·355 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2450
·7· · ·Los Angeles, California· 90071
· · · ·kvick@jassyvick.com
·8· · ·appeared on behalf of Chrome Media LLC,
· · · ·Laura Ricciardi, and Moira Demos.
·9

10· · ·JASSY VICK CAROLAN LLP, by
· · · ·MEGHAN E. FENZEL, ATTORNEY AT LAW
11· · ·355 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2450
· · · ·Los Angeles, California· 90071
12· · ·mfenzel@jassyvick.com
· · · ·appeared via Zoom videoconference on
13· · ·behalf of Chrome Media LLC, Laura Ricciardi, and
· · · ·Moira Demos.
14
· · · ·***
15

16· · ·ALSO PRESENT:

17· · ·Debra Bursik, Paralegal

18· · ·Moira Demos, Defendant

19· · ·Laura Ricciardi, Defendant

20· · ·Melinda LeMoine, Director, Litigation, Netflix, Inc.
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·1· · · · · Q· · But for all you know, Netflix was saying in

·2· · ·that document, "Hold another second if you can, but

·3· · ·we understand that court footage may not exist, and

·4· · ·so we understand if you can't."· You don't know

·5· · ·because you haven't seen that document, correct?

·6· · · · · A· · Right.

·7· · · · · Q· · Okay.

·8· · · · · A· · Yes.· Correct.

·9· · · · · Q· · You talked about some of the music.· I don't

10· · ·know what page that was from, but there was a

11· · ·reference here to good danger music; is that right?

12· · · · · A· · Yes.

13· · · · · Q· · Okay.· And we talked about -- I mean, the

14· · ·subject matter of Making a Murderer did involve a

15· · ·murder, correct?

16· · · · · A· · Uh-huh.· Yes.

17· · · · · Q· · And a horrific crime, correct?

18· · · · · A· · Yes.

19· · · · · Q· · And a dangerous perpetrator, correct?

20· · · · · A· · Yes.

21· · · · · Q· · So there's nothing really inappropriate

22· · ·about using, quote-unquote, danger music with that

23· · ·subject matter, correct?

24· · · · · · · · · ·MR. BURNETT:· Objection, foundation.

25· · · · · Q· · You can answer.
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·1· · · · · A· · The rest of it is, "Approving as good

·2· · ·'danger' music under scoring accompanying images of

·3· · ·Plaintiff."· So why are we only using the danger

·4· · ·music when we're showing images of myself?

·5· · · · · Q· · Oh, well, I think it says, "Accompanying

·6· · ·images of Plaintiff walking Plaintiff out of court."

·7· · ·I'm not sure whose typo that is, but I think it's,

·8· · ·"Accompanying images of Plaintiff walking Avery out

·9· · ·of court."· Avery was, in your mind, a dangerous

10· · ·criminal, correct?

11· · · · · A· · Uh-huh.

12· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So it would be appropriate to use

13· · ·danger music in that sort of scene, correct?

14· · · · · A· · I --

15· · · · · · · · · ·MR. BURNETT:· Objection, foundation.

16· · ·Go ahead.

17· · · · · A· · I've also observed in the clips that were

18· · ·shown to me that I'm just sitting there and there's

19· · ·danger music, or someone else will be talking and

20· · ·they'll put a picture of me up there and accompany

21· · ·that with danger music.

22· · · · · Q· · You testified earlier you didn't remember

23· · ·the music, Mr. Colborn.

24· · · · · A· · No.· I thought I said -- you asked me if --

25· · ·what I considered danger music, and I said music that
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · ·CERTIFICATION PAGE

·2

·3· · ·STATE OF WISCONSIN· · ·)

·4· · ·MILWAUKEE COUNTY· · · ·)

·5
· · · · · · · · · · ·I, PAULA M. HUETTENRAUCH, RMR, CRR,
·6· · ·Notary Public in and for the State of Wisconsin, do
· · · ·hereby certify:
·7
· · · · · · · · · · ·That prior to being examined, the
·8· · ·deponent named in the foregoing deposition,
· · · ·ANDREW L. COLBORN, was by me duly sworn to testify
·9· · ·the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
· · · ·truth.
10
· · · · · · · · · · ·That said deposition was taken before
11· · ·me at the time, date, and place set forth; and I
· · · ·hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true, and
12· · ·correct transcript of my shorthand notes so taken and
· · · ·thereafter reduced to computerized transcription
13· · ·under my direction and supervision.

14· · · · · · · · · · I further certify that I am neither
· · · ·counsel for nor related to any party to said action,
15· · ·nor in any way interested in the outcome thereof; and
· · · ·that I have no contract with the parties, attorneys,
16· · ·or persons with an interest in the action that
· · · ·affects or has a substantial tendency to affect
17· · ·impartiality, or that requires me to provide any
· · · ·service not made available to all parties to the
18· · ·action.

19
· · · ·IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto
20· · ·subscribed my name this 28th day of July, 2022.

21

22
· · · ·Paula M. Huettenrauch, RMR, CRR
23· · ·Notary Public - State of Wisconsin

24· · ·My Commission Expires 8/18/2023
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·1· · · · · · · · · UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
· · · · · · · ·FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN
·2· · ·-----------------------------------------------------
· · · ·ANDREW COLBORN,
·3
· · · · · · · · ·Plaintiff,
·4
· · · ·-vs-· · · · · · · · ·CIVIL ACTION NO. 19-CV-0484-BHL
·5
· · · ·NETFLIX, INC., ET AL.,· · · · · VOLUME II
·6
· · · · · · · · ·Defendants.
·7· · ·-----------------------------------------------------

·8· · · · · · · ·CONTINUED VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF

·9· · · · · · · · · · · ·ANDREW L. COLBORN

10· · · -----------------------------------------------------

11· · ·DATE:· · · · · · · July 22, 2022

12· · ·TIME:· · · · · · · 9:02 a.m. - 4:40 p.m.

13· · ·LOCATION:· · · · · Godfrey & Kahn, S.C.
· · · · · · · · · · · · · 833 East Michigan Street
14· · · · · · · · · · · · Suite 1800
· · · · · · · · · · · · · Milwaukee, Wisconsin· 53202
15

16

17

18

19

20

21
· · · ·REPORTED BY:
22· · ·Paula Huettenrauch, RMR, CRR
· · · ·365Reporting, LLC
23
· · · ·VIDEOGRAPHER:
24· · ·Jon Hansen, CLVS
· · · ·Video Concepts
25· · ·608.408.7411
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·A P P E A R A N C E S

·2

·3· · ·LAW FIRM OF CONWAY, OLEJNICZAK & JERRY, S.C., BY
· · · ·R. GEORGE BURNETT, ATTORNEY AT LAW
·4· · ·231 South Adams Street
· · · ·Green Bay, Wisconsin· 54301
·5· · ·Gb@lcojlaw.com
· · · ·appeared on behalf of the Plaintiff.
·6

·7· · ·ROCKSTEAD LAW, LLC, BY
· · · ·APRIL ROCKSTEAD BARKER, ATTORNEY AT LAW
·8· · ·525 North Lincoln Avenue
· · · ·Beaver Dam, Wisconsin· 53916
·9· · ·aprilrbarker@rocksteadlaw.com
· · · ·appeared on behalf of the Plaintiff.
10

11· · ·BALLARD SPAHR LLP, BY
· · · ·LEITA WALKER, ATTORNEY AT LAW
12· · ·2000 IDS Center
· · · ·80 South 8th Street
13· · ·Minneapolis, Minnesota· 55402
· · · ·walkerl@ballardspahr.com
14· · ·appeared on behalf of Netflix, Inc.

15
· · · ·BALLARD SPAHR LLP, BY
16· · ·ISABELLA SALOMAO NASCIMENTO, ATTORNEY AT LAW
· · · ·2000 IDS Center
17· · ·80 South 8th Street
· · · ·Minneapolis, Minnesota· 55402
18· · ·salomaonascimentoi@ballardspahr.com
· · · ·appeared on behalf of Netflix, Inc.
19

20· · ·BALLARD SPAHR LLP, by
· · · ·EMMY S. PARSONS, ATTORNEY AT LAW
21· · ·1909 K Street NW, Suite 1200
· · · ·Washington, DC· 20006-1157
22· · ·parsonse@ballardspahr.com
· · · ·appeared via Zoom videoconference on
23· · ·behalf of Netflix, Inc.
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·1· · ·BALLARD SPAHR LLP, by
· · · ·MATTHEW E. KELLEY, ATTORNEY AT LAW
·2· · ·1909 K Street NW, Suite 1200
· · · ·Washington, DC· 20006-1157
·3· · ·kelleym@ballardspahr.com
· · · ·appeared via Zoom videoconference on
·4· · ·behalf of Netflix, Inc.

·5
· · · ·JASSY VICK CAROLAN LLP, by
·6· · ·KEVIN L. VICK, ATTORNEY AT LAW
· · · ·355 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2450
·7· · ·Los Angeles, California· 90071
· · · ·kvick@jassyvick.com
·8· · ·appeared on behalf of Chrome Media LLC,
· · · ·Laura Ricciardi, and Moira Demos.
·9

10· · ·JASSY VICK CAROLAN LLP, by
· · · ·MEGHAN E. FENZEL, ATTORNEY AT LAW
11· · ·355 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2450
· · · ·Los Angeles, California· 90071
12· · ·mfenzel@jassyvick.com
· · · ·appeared via Zoom videoconference on
13· · ·behalf of Chrome Media LLC, Laura Ricciardi, and
· · · ·Moira Demos.
14
· · · ·***
15

16· · ·ALSO PRESENT:

17· · ·Debra Bursik, Paralegal

18· · ·Moira Demos, Defendant

19· · ·Laura Ricciardi, Defendant

20· · ·Melinda LeMoine, Director, Litigation, Netflix, Inc.
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·1· · · · · Q· · Okay.· The third block here on Exhibit 8,

·2· · ·you said, "I did" --

·3· · · · · A· · Same page, ma'am?

·4· · · · · Q· · Yeah.

·5· · · · · A· · Okay.

·6· · · · · Q· · You said, "I did have numerous law

·7· · ·enforcement officers both within my own agency and in

·8· · ·agencies outside my own that, yes, did support me

·9· · ·100 percent, yes."· Did I read that correctly?

10· · · · · A· · Yes.

11· · · · · Q· · And you were truthful with the interviewers,

12· · ·correct?

13· · · · · A· · So, again, I don't know the question, but

14· · ·yes, I answered the questions that were put to me

15· · ·truthfully.

16· · · · · Q· · If you could flip to page 360.

17· · · · · A· · The same exhibit here?

18· · · · · Q· · Yes.

19· · · · · A· · Okay.

20· · · · · Q· · The second block begins, "I guess that's."

21· · ·Do you see that?

22· · · · · A· · Yes.

23· · · · · Q· · You say, "I guess that's" -- and then you

24· · ·laugh, apparently.· "To answer your question, I

25· · ·haven't been -- like no one has confronted me.  I
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·1· · ·think a lot of these people are -- they're content to

·2· · ·attack from behind their computer keyboard."· Did I

·3· · ·read that correctly?

·4· · · · · A· · Yes.

·5· · · · · Q· · Okay.· So you told me today about Kevin

·6· · ·Hartlaub?

·7· · · · · A· · Yes.

·8· · · · · Q· · No one else has confronted you, correct?

·9· · · · · A· · So sending a bomb to my mailbox, would you

10· · ·consider that confronting me personally or would we

11· · ·call that doing it from another state and I didn't

12· · ·really get to see the person?

13· · · · · Q· · Well, I guess I'll ask you what you meant

14· · ·when you made this statement to the makers of

15· · ·Convicting a Murderer.

16· · · · · A· · I believe somewhere else in Convicting a

17· · ·Murderer I discussed that.· So that's what I mean.  I

18· · ·don't know what the question is, so that -- it's hard

19· · ·for me to give you a definitive answer when I don't

20· · ·know the question I was being asked.· All I see is my

21· · ·own response, but I can't give you another example

22· · ·beyond the one I just gave you about, like, somebody

23· · ·showing up at my house, although there's been several

24· · ·times that I found vehicles parked in front of my

25· · ·house for no absolute reason.· I lived on a dead-end
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·1· · ·road at the time, and I confronted them and got, "Oh,

·2· · ·I'm lost," "Oh, I'm texting."· It's always something

·3· · ·that they're doing, but it just seems odd that

·4· · ·they're picking Victoria Drive to do that when prior

·5· · ·to the release of Making a Murderer they won't --

·6· · ·they didn't.

·7· · · · · Q· · So I believe you said you confronted them?

·8· · · · · A· · Yes, I would make contact with them.· So I

·9· · ·don't know if they're filming my house or what, but I

10· · ·can't give you another example other than that.

11· · · · · Q· · Okay.· If you could flip to page 362 --

12· · · · · A· · Okay.

13· · · · · Q· · -- of the same exhibit.

14· · · · · A· · Got it.

15· · · · · Q· · In the top box --

16· · · · · A· · Yes.

17· · · · · Q· · -- one, two, three, four -- eight lines

18· · ·down.

19· · · · · A· · Where it says, "To tell you the truth"?

20· · · · · Q· · Yeah.· I'm even going to go a little

21· · ·further.· Go two more lines down from there.· Toward

22· · ·the end it says, "I don't make friends easy."· Do you

23· · ·see that?

24· · · · · A· · Yes.

25· · · · · Q· · And it continues, "I'm an introverted
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · ·CERTIFICATION PAGE

·2

·3· · ·STATE OF WISCONSIN· · ·)

·4· · ·MILWAUKEE COUNTY· · · ·)

·5
· · · · · · · · · · ·I, PAULA M. HUETTENRAUCH, RMR, CRR,
·6· · ·Notary Public in and for the State of Wisconsin, do
· · · ·hereby certify:
·7
· · · · · · · · · · ·That prior to being examined, the
·8· · ·deponent named in the foregoing deposition,
· · · ·ANDREW L. COLBORN, was by me duly sworn to testify
·9· · ·the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
· · · ·truth.
10
· · · · · · · · · · ·That said deposition was taken before
11· · ·me at the time, date, and place set forth; and I
· · · ·hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true, and
12· · ·correct transcript of my shorthand notes so taken and
· · · ·thereafter reduced to computerized transcription
13· · ·under my direction and supervision.

14· · · · · · · · · · I further certify that I am neither
· · · ·counsel for nor related to any party to said action,
15· · ·nor in any way interested in the outcome thereof; and
· · · ·that I have no contract with the parties, attorneys,
16· · ·or persons with an interest in the action that
· · · ·affects or has a substantial tendency to affect
17· · ·impartiality, or that requires me to provide any
· · · ·service not made available to all parties to the
18· · ·action.

19
· · · ·IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto
20· · ·subscribed my name this 28th day of July, 2022.

21

22
· · · ·Paula M. Huettenrauch, RMR, CRR
23· · ·Notary Public - State of Wisconsin

24· · ·My Commission Expires 8/18/2023
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guess it sunk into her because she did stop and she’s a different
person now. I gotta give her a lot of credit. When Jodi gets out,
hopefully, we can set a wedding date.” çJodi Stachowski was
Avery’s loyal girlfriend and fiancée at the time of his wrongful
conviction lawsuit and subsequent murder charge.)

Then Avery was heard speaking on a more recent phone call
from jail, to the documentarians, most likely.

“A lot of people told me to watch my back. Most of the time I
didn’t even believe ‘em. But then, sitting and doing deposi
tions, I don’t know, it kinda changed my mind. They were cov
ering something up. And they were still covering something up.
Even with the sheriff who’s on there now, he’s . . . covering
something up.”

By the end of the night I had seen clips of videos from several
of the officers’ depositions and, I had to admit, they looked like
they were being defensive. They were not happy about being
grilled by a roomful of attorneys concerning a very black mark on
their department, especially not with Steven Avery sitting there,
watching them squirm. It’s a rare cop who does well when the ta
bles are turned, when they are the one on the receiving end of a
blistering interrogation by their accusers.

Most people do get nervous when being deposed. It’s not
much different than testifying in court, especially with the lens of
a video camera peering into our eyes from three or four feet
away. Thu are sworn under oath and intense lawyers start by grill
ing you about tmcomfortahle topics that you may or may not
know anything about. But as I tell witnesses before they testify
during trials, if you stick only with what you know and tell the
truth, you have nothing to fear. If you don’t understand the ques
tion, say that. If you don’t know the answet; say that. And by all
means, don’t let the lawyers get under your skin!

On the other hand, nearly all of them looked more defensive
than they should have if they had nothing to hide—at least in the
video clips the documentarians chose to include in the series.

a’Aen I later watched the complete video of the depositions of

ans that one or both

;otiations and refused

idant had nothing to
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i might he innocent, or
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the officers who were most directly accused of wrongdoing—ei
ther in the first Avery case or in the second—my concern that
they had something to hide, though significantly reduced, was
not completely alleviated, This was not simply a case of only se
lective editing to make them look bad.

They say lawyers are the worst witnesses on the stand. We’re ei
ther too wordy, too full of ourselves, too prone to analyze ques
tions before we respond—or all of the above. But lawyers can
have their fair share of these occupational hazards, and still be a
halfway decent witness on the stand. On the three or four occa
sions I had to testi’, I did not find it difficult at all. It helps, of
course, if you have no skin in the game, which is the position I
was in when it was my turn to be deposed in Steven’s wrongful
conviction lawsuit.

Almost a year to the day after Steven Avery was exonerated, my
boss, DA Mark Rohrei; and I were both subpoenaed to appear for
depositions at the local branch of a large Milwaukee law firm.
Walt Kelly, one of Avery’s lawyers who was prominently featured
in the early episodes of Making a Murderei; would be our inquisi
tor that day.

Whether at trial or in depositions, when it comes to grilling re
luctant witnesses, Kelly is one of the best. He’s an aggressive at
torney, but he’s notjust a hired gun. Kelly passionately believes in
his client’s cause, and to the extent he pushes the limits of civil
advocacy, that’s why. His gray beard and piercing blue eyes match
the personality of this aging but still vibrant activist of the sixties,
and although we’d never met, I liked him immediately Besides,
my’ feelings about what happened back in 1985 weren’t a secret.
I’d been open with the Wisconsin Department of Justice in the

DOJ’s independent review of the circumstances surrounding
Steven Avery’s wrongful conviction, and I intended to be the

same the day I was deposed.
I walked into a not-big-enough conference room, where a

crowd of red-eyed and weary attorneys were sitting around a table
with pens and legal pads poised in front of them, ready to have at
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the back of the cab? net. I was in visual contact when they were

doing this as they were only a couple offeet from me. Sgt. CDL-

BORN began to ut the books that were taken out of the cabi

net back into it. He was having some resistance against the

books, they were caught on something, and he pushed on the

books banging them into the back of the cabinet. Lt. LENK left

the room to call the command post for some boxesfor the porno

graphic materials that we had found. Sgl.. COLBORN went

back to searching through the magazines under the desk area. 1

was completing the search of the nightstand. After approxi

mately two minutes, Lt. LENK came back to the room. He en

tered the doorway of the room approximately one foot away

from me, pointed to thefloor and said, “There’s a key here. “He

pointed to the floor next to the cabinet a pair of men’s slip-

pers.

It was strike two against Making a Murderer The documentari

ans had done a masterful job. By repeatedly showing video clips

of the key in plain view on the flooi with books inside the cabinet

and items on top, and by carefully editing testimony from Deputy

Kucharski and altogether omitting the details from Colborn and

Lenk, they convinced Netflix viewers worldwide—beyond a

shadow of a doubt—that Colborn and Lenk had planted the key.

Granted, had they included Colborn and Lenk’s explanation

of how they happened upon the key viewers’ opinions of their ac

count’s credibility would be split and, like every other issue in the

Avery case, hotly contested. By choosing to hide the explanation

of the police because it ran counter to their chosen agenda, the

documentarians denied viewers the opportunity to decide for

themselves. By skillful editing and their expert use of video and

sound, they made the decision for everyone else, and not for the

first time in the upcoming weeks did the word “censorship” come to

my mind.

I had promised myself I would not let my favorable impression

of Colborn and Lenk affect my evaluation of whether they were
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word “censorship” come to

t my favorable impression

ion of whether they were

telling the truth. After all, I could imagine withoutjustifying it for
a minute that convinced of Steven Avery’s guilt, but concerned
there was not enough evidence to convict him, Colborn and/or
Lenk could have planted the key to strengthen the case. Short of
being in the room when they found the key, I realize it’s impossi
ble to know with 100 percent certainty. My opinion is just that—
an opinion. But at least it’s based upon the ‘totality of the facts
and circumstances,” as encouraged by the law—not just the ones
pushed by the defense and fed to me by Making a Murderer

It

ii

103

Case 1:19-cv-00484-BHL   Filed 12/09/22   Page 5 of 6   Document 344-6



RIESBACH INDEFENSIBLE

teven wasnt the only member of
able with the law.

a violent past, most notably an
his former wife accused him of
Ic her with a telephone cord.
aving been convicted of battery
92, stemming from an attack on
yes don’t fare well in the Avery

at the salvage yard and were on
)ach was murdered, so they both
y State v. Denny.
e court found in favor of the de
El wide. Buting and Strang would
ittention away from Steven Avery
iforementioned siblings—or for
n unsavory past who happened
the day Halbach was murdered.
that Earl or Chuck or someone
fendant never has to prove any-
burden of proof away from the

II they would have to do would be
ninded jurors that someone else
very would walk away a free man.
o weeks before the start of what
ng trial, the parties gathered in

rence. Shackled in handcuffs and
a stun belt, Steven Avery was es

ive deputies standing ready with
Security outside the courtroom
so much riding on his decision

rd-party responsibility Denny Mo-
matter under advisement a few

ady to announce his decision.
lefense. After conceding that the

32

persons identified by the defense had the opportunity to murder
Teresa Halbach, thejudge said there was nothing to demonstrate
that any of them had a motive to kill her. And without evidence of
motive, he explained, the evidence failed the legitimate tendency
test under the Denny case.

Not allowed to blame someone else for Halbach’s murder, the
defense team would be left with arguing the conspiracy theory
and harping on reasonable doubt. The jury would never learn
about Chuck or Earl Avery or any other violent miscreant that
was roaming the salvage yard that day. It was very good news for
the prosecution.

The defense fared much better with the blood vial defense.
With each side wanting to shape how the issue would evolve, it
had been a long and torturous route. At that same hearing on
January 30, Judge Willis sided with the defense and denied the
state’s motion to exclude the blood vial evidence. The way was
cleared for Buting and Strang to accuse the police of secreting
some of their client’s blood from the vial and planting it inside
Halbach’s car.

With judge Willis’s decision to permit the frame-tip defense,
Avery’s trial for Halbach’s murder would become intertwined
with his wrongful conviction case twenty-two years earlier. With
the blood vial defense still viable and the allegations that Col
horn, Lenk, and a group of unnamed and unnumbered cronies
from the sheriffs department planted Halbach’s SUV at the sal
vage yard and its ignition key in the defendant’s bedroom, he
had a legitimate shot of walking away a free man—especially with
Strang and Buting at his side.

The prosecution, I thought, was in trouble. At the time—a
decade before researching the matter in full—I was disconcerted
by the fact that Colborn and Lenk were the officers who found
the key, and only after other searches failed to turn it up. If only
Kratz could get Brendan Dassey’s confession in front of the jury, I
thought, the defense would not stand a chance. But Dassey’s Fifth
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STATE OF WISCONSIN : CIRCUIT COURT : MANITOWOC COUNTY 
BRANCH I 

STATE OF WISCONSIN, 
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STEVEN A. AVERY, 

TRIAL - DAY 6 
Case No. 05 CF 381 
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BEFORE: Hon. Patrick L. Willis 
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Special Prosecutor 
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Judge, no. 

THE COURT: Very well, the witness is 

excused. 

ATTORNEY KRATZ: Could we approach just 

briefly, Judge. 

THE COURT: Sure. 

(Side bar taken.) 

ATTORNEY KRATZ: I'm going to call Bill 

Tyson to the stand. 

THE CLERK: Please raise your right hand. 

SERGEANT WILLIAM TYSON, called as a 

witness herein, having been first duly sworn, was 

examined and testified as follows: 

THE CLERK: Please be seated. Please state 

your name and spell your last name for the record. 

THE WITNESS: William Tyson, T-y-s-o-n. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY ATTORNEY KRATZ: 

Q. Mr. Tyson, how are you employed? 

A. I am a sergeant with the patrol staff with the 

Calumet County Sheriff's Department. 

Q. As a sergeant with Calumet County, were you asked 

to assist in search efforts at what's now called 

the Avery Salvage Yard? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. All right. Now, you said that you were teamed up 

with, or that you joined other officers; do you 

remember who was in your team? 

A. Yes, it was Lieutenant Jim Lenk, from the 

Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department; Sergeant 

Andy Colborn, from the Manitowoc County Sheriff's 

Department; and Detective Dave Remiker, from the 

Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department. 

Q. Was there any discussion about what each of your 

responsibilities were going to be and, I guess, 

more specifically, was there a discussion about 

who was in charge of this team? 

A. It was told to me that no Manitowoc County deputy 

should be alone on the property. Investigator 

Wiegert told me my responsibility would be to go 

with them into the Steve Avery trailer and to 

document what they were doing, take notes, and if 

evidence was seized by them, to take custody of 

all the evidence at the end of the search 

warrant. 

Q. Do you know why a Calumet County deputy was put 

in charge of the custody of any physical evidence 

that might be obtained. 

A. It was told to me that Investigator Wiegert would 

be the lead investigator and that the 
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STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
)ss 

COUNTY OF MANITOWOC ) 

I, Diane Tesheneck, Official Court 

Reporter for Circuit Court Branch I and the State 

of Wisconsin, do hereby certify that I reported 

the foregoing matter and that the foregoing 

transcript has been carefully prepared by me with 

my computerized stenographic notes as taken by me 

in machine shorthand, and by computer-assisted 

transcription thereafter transcribed, and that it 

is a true and correct transcript of the 

proceedings had in said matter to the best of my 

knowledge and ability. 

Dated this 7th day of 11, 2007. 

Diane Tesheneck, RPR 
Official Court Reporter 
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